DOCKET FILE COPY OP SHALL Feder	Before the ral Communications Commission Washington, D.C. 20554	NAAU CD
In the Matter of	)	JUL 0 6 2009
Petition to Establish Procedural	) WC Docket No. 07	7 <b>6</b> 67 1 <b>6</b> 07
Requirements to Govern Proceedings for	or )	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Forbearance Under Section 10 of the	)	
Communications Act of 1934, as Amer	nded)	

## **REPORT AND ORDER**

Adopted: June 26, 2009

\_ \_ \_

Released: June 29, 2009

By the Commission: Acting Chairman Copps and Commissioners Adelstein and McDowell issuing separate statements.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	p	ara.
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	BACKGROUND	2
III.	DISCUSSION	9
	A. Content of Forbearance Petitions	11
	1. Petitions Must be Complete as Filed	11
	2. Definition of Complete as Filed	16
	3. Burden of Proof	20
	B. Transparent Procedures, Actively Managed	24
	1. Transparency	
	2. Active Management of Proceedings	27
	C. Withdrawal of Forbearance Petitions	
	D. Other Matters	39
IV.	PROCEDURAL MATTERS	41
	A. Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis	41
	B. Paperwork Reduction Act	
	C. Congressional Review Act	
V.	ORDERING CLAUSES	44
	PENDIX A – List of Commenters	
AP	PENDIX B – Final Rules	
AP	PENDIX C – Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis	

## I. INTRODUCTION

1. Today we adopt procedural rules governing petitions for forbearance filed pursuant to section 10 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, (the Act).<sup>1</sup> In particular, we adopt rules requiring

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) ("Any telecommunications carrier, or class of telecommunications carriers, may submit a petition to the Commission requesting that the Commission exercise the authority granted under this section with respect to that carrier or those carriers, or any service offered by that carrier or carriers.").

that forbearance petitions be "complete as filed."<sup>2</sup> This is consistent with the principle that whenever a petitioner files a petition for forbearance, the petitioner bears the burden of proof with respect to establishing that the statutory criteria for granting forbearance are met.<sup>3</sup> We also adopt procedures to ensure that forbearance petitions are addressed in a timely, equitable, and predictable manner.<sup>4</sup> Further, a forbearance petition may no longer be withdrawn or significantly narrowed by the petitioner after the tenth business day after the due date for reply comments without Commission authorization.<sup>5</sup> Through these actions, we implement procedures for handling forbearance petitions in a manner that is front-loaded, actively managed, transparent, and fair.

## II. BACKGROUND

2. Pursuant to section 10 of the Act, the Commission shall forbear from applying to a telecommunications carrier or telecommunications service, or class of telecommunications carriers or telecommunications services, any statutory provision or regulation if it determines that: (1) enforcement of the provision or regulation is not necessary to ensure that the telecommunications carrier's charges, practices, classifications, or regulations are just, reasonable, and not unjustly or unreasonably discriminatory; (2) enforcement of the provision or regulation is not necessary to protect consumers; and (3) forbearance from applying such provision or regulation is consistent with the public interest.<sup>6</sup> In determining whether forbearance is consistent with the public interest, the Commission also must consider "whether forbearance from enforcing the provision or regulation will promote competitive market conditions."<sup>7</sup>

3. In addition, section 332(c)(1)(A) of the Act authorizes the Commission to forbear from applying the provisions of Title II to commercial mobile radio service (CMRS) providers, except for sections 201, 202, and 208, if certain criteria are satisfied.<sup>8</sup> In particular, the Commission may forbear from applying provisions of Title II if it determines that: (1) enforcement of the requirement is unnecessary to ensure that rates are just, reasonable, and non-discriminatory; (2) the requirement is not needed to protect consumers; and (3) forbearance is consistent with the public interest.<sup>9</sup> The Commission

<sup>6</sup> 47 U.S.C. § 160(a).

<sup>7</sup> 47 U.S.C. § 160(b).

<sup>9</sup> 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(1)(A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See infra Section III.A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See infra Section 111.A.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See infra Section III.B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See infra Section III.C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(1)(A). While section 332(c) does not expressly use the term "forbearance," the Commission has regularly characterized the regulatory relief in this manner. See, e.g., Appropriate Regulatory Treatment for Broadband Access to the Internet Over Wireless Networks, WT Docket No. 07-53, Declaratory Ruling, 22 FCC Rcd 5901, 5915-16, para. 39 (2007) ("Section 332(c)(1)(A) requires that providers of commercial mobile service be treated as common carriers under Title II of the Act but also authorizes the Commission to forbear from applying most Title II provisions if it makes certain findings."). CMRS providers have filed for forbearance under section 10 of the Act. See, e.g., Cellular Telecommunications Industry Association's Petition for Forbearance From Commercial Mobile Radio Services Number Portability Obligations; Telephone Number Portability, WT Docket No. 98-229, CC Docket No. 95-116, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 14 FCC Rcd 3092 (1999); Verizon Wireless's Petition for Partial Forbearance From the Commercial Mobile Radio Services Number Portability, WT Docket No. 91-184, CC Docket No. 95-116, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 17 FCC Rcd 14972 (2002).

also must consider whether any proposed forbearance from the requirements of Title II "will enhance competition among [CMRS] providers."<sup>10</sup>

4. Prior to enactment of sections 10 and 332, the Commission, in its *Competitive Carrier* proceeding,<sup>11</sup> had forborne from statutory tariffing requirements and adopted a permissive detariffing policy for nondominant carriers.<sup>12</sup> In adopting its detariffing policy for nondominant carriers, the Commission relied on its section 203(b) authority to modify its tariff filing requirements.<sup>13</sup> The Commission reasoned that nondominant carriers lacked market power and, therefore, would be unable to charge unjust and unreasonable rates or discriminate unreasonably in violation of sections 201(b) and 202(a) of the Act.<sup>14</sup> Accordingly, the Commission found that traditional tariff regulation of nondominant carriers was unnecessary to ensure lawful rates and, further, could be counterproductive as it could raise carrier costs (and rates), delay new services, and encourage collusive pricing.<sup>15</sup> The Supreme Court rejected the Commission's use of section 203(b) to forbear from applying tariffing requirements to nondominant carriers. Specifically, the Court held that the Commission's authority to "modify any requirement" under section 203 of the 1934 Act.<sup>16</sup> The Court further held that, although revising the statutory requirements providing for rate regulation for all long-distance, common carrier

<sup>12</sup> See Tariff Filing Requirements for Interstate Common Carriers, 7 FCC Rcd 8072 (1992); see also 47 U.S.C. § 203(a) ("Every common carrier, except connecting carriers, shall... file with the Commission ... schedules showing all charges for itself and its connecting carriers for interstate and foreign wire or radio communications ....").

<sup>13</sup> See 47 U.S.C. § 203(b)(2) ("The Commission may, in its discretion and for good cause shown, modify any requirement made by or under the authority of this section either in particular instances or by general order applicable to special circumstances or conditions except that the Commission may not require the notice period specified in paragraph (1) to be more than one hundred and twenty days."); see also Tariff Filing Requirements for Interstate Common Carriers, 7 FCC Rcd at 8077, para. 28 (stating "we believe that Section 203 can be read to permit the FCC to adopt forbearance rules when the public interest so requires").

<sup>14</sup> Tariff Filing Requirements for Interstate Common Carriers, 7 FCC Rcd at 8073, para. 5; Competitive Carrier Notice, 77 FCC 2d at 334-48; 47 U.S.C. §§ 201(b), 202(a).

<sup>15</sup> Tariff Filing Requirements for Interstate Common Carriers, 7 FCC Rcd at 8073, para. 5; Competitive Carrier Notice, 77 FCC 2d at 313-14, 358-59.

<sup>16</sup> MCI v AT&T, 512 U.S. at 225, 228.

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(1)(C). Although section 10 and 332 do have similar provisions, the rules we adopt today govern forbearance requests filed pursuant to section 10 of the Act and do not apply to forbearance requests filed under section 332 of the Act.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Policy and Rules Concerning Rates for Competitive Common Carrier Services and Facilities Authorizations Therefor, CC Docket No. 79-252, Notice of Inquiry and Proposed Rulemaking, 77 FCC 2d 308 (1979) (Competitive Carrier Notice); First Report and Order, 85 FCC 2d 1 (1980); Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 84 FCC 2d 445 (1981); Second Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, FCC 82-187, 47 Fed. Reg. 17308 (1982); Second Report and Order, 91 FCC 2d 59 (1982); Order on Reconsideration, 93 FCC 2d 54 (1983); Third Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 48 Fed. Reg. 28292 (1983); Third Report and Order, 48 Fed. Reg. 46791 (1983); Fourth Report and Order, 95 FCC 2d 554 (1983), vacated, AT&T v. FCC, 978 F.2d 727 (D.C. Cir. 1992), cert. denied, MCI Telecommunications Corp. v. AT&T, 509 U.S. 913 (1993); Policy and Rules Concerning Rates for Competitive Carrier Services and Facilities Authorizations Therefor, Fifth Report and Order, 98 FCC 2d 1191 (1984); Sixth Report and Order, 99 FCC 2d 1020 (1985), vacated, MCI Telecommunications Corp. v. FCC, 765 F.2d 1186 (D.C. Cir. 1985), aff d, MCI v. AT&T, 512 U.S. 218 (1994) (MCI v. AT&T) (collectively, the Competitive Carrier proceeding).

communications to one of rate regulation only where competition does not exist may be a good idea, it was not what Congress had established in the 1934 Act.<sup>17</sup>

5. In response to the Supreme Court's decision, Congress enacted section 10.<sup>18</sup> Congress, however, went beyond the area of tariffing that was the subject of *MCI v. AT&T*. Specifically, Congress enacted section 10 to give the Commission the authority to forbear from enforcing statutes and regulations that are no longer "current and necessary in light of changes in the industry."<sup>19</sup> Congress found that to "improve the [1996 Act's] deregulatory nature," it had to give carriers the ability to compel the Commission to exercise its authority "to forbear from regulating."<sup>20</sup> Under the statute, the Commission has the authority to forbear from applying regulation on its own motion, as well as in response to a petition for forbearance.<sup>21</sup>

6. The Commission has never adopted detailed procedures to implement section 10. Indeed, there is only a single rule implementing section 10, a rule that requires a forbearance request to be filed as a separate pleading and to be identified as a petition for forbearance in the caption of the pleading.<sup>22</sup> Rather than adopting procedures to specifically address forbearance petitions, the Commission has

<sup>19</sup> 141 Cong. Rec. S7893 (June 7, 1995) (remarks of Sen. Pressler).

<sup>20</sup> 141 Cong. Rec. S8069-70 (June 9, 1995) (remarks of Sen. Pressler). We note that under section 10(d), the Commission may not forbear from sections 251(c) and 271 of the Act until those requirements are fully implemented. See 47 U.S.C. §160(c); see also Petition of Qwest Corporation for Forbearance Pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) in the Omaha Metropolitan Statistical Area, WC Docket No. 04-223, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 20 FCC Red 19415, 19440, para. 54 n.135 (2005), aff'd, Qwest Corp. v. FCC, 482 F.3d 471 (D.C. Cir. 2007), (holding that "[i]n the present context, we conclude that section 251(c) in those rules have taken effect"); Petition for Forbearance of the Verizon Telephone Companies Pursuant to 47 U.S.C. §160(c); SBC Communications Inc.'s Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c); BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. Petition for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c), WC Docket Nos. 01-338, 03-235, 03-260, 04-48, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 19 FCC Red 21496, 21503, para. 16 (2

<sup>21</sup> See Appropriate Framework for Broadband Access to the Internet over Wireline Facilities, CC Docket No. 02-33, Report and Order and Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 20 FCC Rcd 14853, 14901, para. 90 (2005), aff'd sub nom. Time Warner Telecom, Inc. v. FCC, 507 F.3d 205 (3d Cir. 2007) (forbearing, on the Commission's own motion, from applying tarrifing requirements to providers of wireline broadband Internet access service that offer the underlying transmission component of broadband Internet access service as a telecommunications service).

 $^{22}$  47 C.F.R. § 1.53. This rule addressed the problem of parties combining forbearance requests with other requests for Commission action making it difficult for Commission staff and interested parties to identify section 10(c) forbearance requests. See Separate Pleadings for Petitions for Forbearance, Final Rule Action, 15 FCC Rcd 1140 (2000). The ability to easily identify requests for forbearance is important to avoid accidental automatic grants. See id. at 1142, para. 3 ("Given the statutory deadline for Commission action on section 10(c) forbearance petitions, we are concerned that the Commission and interested parties may not have sufficient opportunity to consider these requests in a timely manner if they are not clearly identifiable as section 10(c) forbearance petitions.").

 $<sup>^{17}</sup>$  Id. at 231-22. The Court noted that there was considerable debate over the wisdom of the filed rate doctrine and continued regulation of the telecommunications industry, but such estimations cannot alter the meaning of the 1934 Act. Id. at 234.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See e.g., S. REP. NO. 103-367, at 117 (1994) (stating that provisions of the new statute would reverse the Supreme Court's ruling in *MCI v. AT&T* and permit the Commission to grant exemptions to the statutory tariffing requirements).

heretofore considered each petition on a case-by-case basis. In the first several years after enactment of the statutory forbearance provisions, parties requested relatively specific forbearance relief.<sup>23</sup> More recently, however, forbearance requests have become increasingly complex, and the requested relief has become increasingly broad.<sup>24</sup> Petitioners seeking forbearance relief, meanwhile, have become less specific in identifying the statutory provisions and rules from which forbearance is being sought as well as identifying the relevant services and geographic areas.<sup>25</sup>

7. Moreover, certain forbearance petitions have gone into effect by operation of law, without a Commission order, under the section 10 "deemed grant" provision.<sup>26</sup> In the most notable example,

<sup>24</sup> See, e.g., Petition of the Verizon Telephone Companies for Forbearance under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) from Title II and Computer Inquiry Rules with Respect to Broadband Services, Petition for Forbearance, WC Docket No. 04-0440 (filed Dec. 20, 2004) (Verizon Title II and Computer Inquiry Forbearance Petition) (requesting relief from Title II of the Act and the Computer Inquiry rules to its broadband services); see also Petition of AT&T Inc. for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) from Title II and Computer Inquiry Rules with Respect to Its Broadband Services; Petition of BellSouth Corporation for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) from Title II and Computer Inquiry Rules with Respect to Its Broadband Services, WC Docket No. 06-125, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 22 FCC Rcd 18705 (2007) (requesting "me too" relief from Title II of the Act and the Computer Inquiry rules to their broadband services), review pending, Nos. 07-1426, 07-1427, 07-1429, 07-1430, 07-1431, and 07-1432 (D.C. Cir. filed Oct. 22, 2007); Petition of the Embarg Local Operating Companies for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) from Application of Computer Inquiry Rules and Certain Title II Common-Carriage Requirements, Petition of the Frontier and Citizens ILECs for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) from Title II and Computer Inquiry Rules with Respect to Their Broadband Services, WC Docket No. 06-147, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 22 FCC Rcd 19478 (2007) (same), pet. for review pending, No. 07-1442 (D.C. Cir. filed Nov. 5, 2007); Petition of ACS of Anchorage, Inc. Pursuant to Section 10 of the Communications Act of 1934, as Amended (47 U.S.C. § 160(c)), for Forbearance from Certain Dominant Carrier Regulation of Its Interstate Access Services, and for Forbearance from Title II Regulation of Its Broadband Services, in the Anchorage, Alaska, Incumbent Local Exchange Carrier Study Area, WC Docket No. 06-109, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 22 FCC Rcd 16304 (2007), pets. for recon. pending; Petition of Qwest for Forbearance Under 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) from Title II and Computer Inquiry Rules with Respect to Broadband Services, WC Docket No. 06-125, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 23 FCC Rcd 12260 (2008) (same).

<sup>25</sup> See, e.g., Verizon Title II and Computer Inquiry Forbearance Petition at 1 (seeking relief from Title II and the Computer Inquiry Rules "to any broadband services offered by Verizon").

<sup>26</sup> Section 10(c) provides that a forbearance petition "shall be deemed granted if the Commission does not deny the petition for failure to meet the requirements for forbearance under subsection (a) within one year after the Commission receives it, unless the one-year period is extended by the Commission." See 47 U.S.C. § 160(c). Since 1996, four petitions for forbearance have been granted by operation of law. See Ameritech Request for Forbearance from the Application of Section 272 of the Communications Act to Previously Authorized Telecommunications Relay Services Granted Through Operation of Law, Public Notice, CC Docket No. 96-149, 13 FCC Rcd 95 (1998); SWBT Request for Forbearance from the Application of Section 272 of the Communication of Law, Public Notice, CC Docket No. 96-149, 13 FCC Rcd 95 (1998); SWBT Request for Forbearance from the Application of Section 272 of the Communications Act to Previously Authorized Telecommunications Act to Previously Authorized 70 (1998); SWBT Request for Forbearance from the Application of Section 272 of the Communications Act to Previously Authorized 71 (1998); SWBT Request for Forbearance from the Application of Section 272 of the Communications Act to Previously Authorized 71 (1998); SWBT Request for Forbearance from the Application of Section 272 of the Communications Act to Previously Authorized 71 (1998); SWBT Request for Forbearance from the Application of Section 272 of the Communications Act to Previously Authorized 71 (1998); SWBT Real Services Granted Through Operation of Law, Public Notice, CC Docket No. 96-149, 13 (continued....)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See generally Hyperion Telecommunications, Inc. Petition Requesting Forbearance; Time Warner Communications Petition for Forbearance; Complete Detariffing for Competitive Access Providers and Competitive Local Exchange Carriers, CC Docket No. 97-146, Memorandum Opinion and Order and Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 12 FCC Rcd 8596 (1997) (granting requests to establish permissive detariffing for non-ILEC providers of interstate exchange access services); Bell Operating Companies Petitions for Forbearance from the Application of Section 272 of the Communications Act of 1934, As Amended, to Certain Activities, CC Docket No. 96-149, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 13 FCC Rcd 2627 (CCB 1998) (forbearing from application of section 272 to the BOCs' E911 and reverse directory services, subject to certain conditions); cf. Federal-State Board on Universal Service, Startec Global Communications Corporation Request for Forbearance or Exemption from the Universal Service Contribution Requirement, CC Docket No. 96-45, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 14 FCC Rcd 8030 (1999) (denying Startec's request that the Commission forbear from enforcing the universal service contribution requirement).

Verizon filed a petition requesting that the Commission forbear from applying Title II of the Act and the *Computer Inquiry* rules to its broadband services. This was also an example of a broad and complex forbearance request. By their recorded vote, two Commissioners voted to adopt, and two Commissioners voted against, a draft Report and Order granting Verizon's petition in part.<sup>27</sup> Accordingly, the draft Report and Order was never adopted, and the Commission issued a News Release announcing that the petition had been granted by operation of law.<sup>28</sup> The D.C. Circuit denied petitions for review that attempted to challenge the deemed grant.<sup>29</sup> The outcome of the proceeding caused concern among some commenters and led to the introduction of legislation to amend the statute.<sup>30</sup>

8. On September 19, 2007, Covad Communications Group, NuVox Communications, XO Communications, LLC, Cavalier Telephone Corp., and McLeod USA Telecommunications Services, Inc. petitioned the Commission to adopt procedural rules to govern the Commission's consideration of petitions for forbearance.<sup>31</sup> On November 30, 2007, the Commission sought comment on measures proposed in that petition in the *Forbearance Procedures NPRM*.<sup>32</sup> Among other questions, the *Forbearance Procedures NPRM* sought comment on whether all petitions for forbearance should be complete as filed;<sup>33</sup> whether a petitioner for forbearance should have to demonstrate separately how it has satisfied each component of the forbearance standard;<sup>34</sup> and whether the Commission must issue a written

<sup>28</sup> Id.

<sup>30</sup> See, e.g., Protecting Consumers Through Proper Forbearance Procedures Act, H.R. 400, 111th Cong. (2009) (proposing to delete the deemed grant language in Section 10(c) and replace it with the requirement that the Commission grant or deny a forbearance petition within the one year, plus 90-day extension, timeframe). See also Covad, et al. Petition to Establish Procedural Requirements to Govern Proceedings for Forbearance Under Section 10 of the Communications Act of 1934, as Amended, WC Docket No. 07-267 at 6 (filed Sept. 19, 2007) (claiming that the Commission needs to "apply order" to the forbearance process) (Covad Petition); Petition of SBC Communications Inc. for Forbearance from the Application of Title II Common Carrier Regulation to IP Platform Services, WC Docket No. 04-29, Memorandum Opinion and Order, Joint Statement of Commissioners Michael J. Copps and Jonathan S. Adelstein, 20 FCC Rcd 9361, 9373 (2005) ("Although we have reservations about the potential for confusion created by this language, we support the decision because it is superior to Commission inaction. Failure to issue a decision would have resulted in an automatic grant of this petition, a result that we find untenable in light of the record before us."). See also Petition to Establish Procedural Requirements to Govern Proceedings for Forbearance Under Section 10 of the Communications Act of 1934, as Amended, Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, WC Docket No. 07-267, 22 FCC Rcd 21212, 21215, para. 13 (2007) (Forbearance Procedures NPRM).

<sup>31</sup> Covad Petition.

<sup>32</sup> Forbearance Procedures NPRM, 22 FCC Rcd at 21212, para. 1.

<sup>33</sup> Forbearance Procedures NPRM, 22 FCC Rcd at 21213-14, para. 6.

<sup>(</sup>Continued from previous page)

FCC Rcd 11151 (1998); Forbearance from Separate Affiliate Requirements of Section 272 in Connection with 1+ Calls from Payphones Granted by Operation of Law to Verizon on October 22, 2003 Pursuant to Section 10(c), WC Docket No. 02-200, News Release (Oct. 23, 2003); Verizon Title II and Computer Inquiry Forbearance Petition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Verizon Telephone Companies' Petition for Forbearance from Title II and Computer Inquiry Rules with Respect Their Broadband Services is Granted by Operation of Law, WC Docket No. 04-440, FCC News Release (rel. Mar. 20, 2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See Sprint Nextel Corp. v. FCC, 508 F.3d 1129, 1132 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (holding that "Congress, not the Commission, [had] 'granted' Verizon's forbearance petition" and therefore that there was no agency action to review).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Forbearance Procedures NPRM, 22 FCC Rcd at 21214, para 7

order on all forbearance proceedings.<sup>35</sup> The Commission also encouraged broader comment. The *Forbearance Procedures NPRM* also asked whether the forbearance process is being used as Congress intended, how individual forbearance proceedings relate to industry-wide proceedings, and what burdens, including administrative and financial costs, forbearance proceedings place on stakeholders in the industry.<sup>36</sup>

## III. DISCUSSION

9. The Commission has gained significant experience considering petitions for forbearance in the more than 13 years since the forbearance provisions were enacted. Indeed, since 1996, the Commission has addressed more than 120 petitions filed under section 10 of the Act. Thus, we base our findings and the procedures we adopt on the Commission's experience with forbearance petitions, as well as on the record in response to the *Forbearance Procedures NPRM*.<sup>37</sup>

10. The procedures we adopt require petitions to be complete as filed. This requirement is consistent with the petitioner's general burden of proof that we clarify below. We also adopt rules to ensure a transparent and actively-managed review process. Finally, we discuss the issue of the use of confidential data and the effect of this order on pending petitions.

## A. Content of Forbearance Petitions

### 1. Petitions Must be Complete as Filed

11. In the *Forbearance Procedures NPRM*, the Commission sought comment on whether forbearance petitions should be required to be "complete as filed."<sup>38</sup> We conclude that section 10 petitions for forbearance must be complete as filed as we describe below. We acknowledge that the Commission has not previously required forbearance petitions to be complete at the time of filing,<sup>39</sup> but we now find it necessary, for the reasons set forth below, to adopt such a requirement. Henceforth, we require forbearance petitions to state explicitly the scope of the relief requested; to address each prong of the statute as it applies to the rules or provisions from which the petitioner seeks relief; to identify any other proceedings pending before the Commission where the petitioner speaks to the relevant issues (or declare not to have spoken to the issue, if that is the case); and to comply with simple format requirements intended to facilitate our and the public's review of the petition.<sup>40</sup>

12. We require forbearance petitions to be complete as filed as defined below for three reasons: to make the process fairer for commenters, more manageable for the Commission, and more predictable for petitioners.<sup>41</sup> First, complete petitions permit interested parties to file complete and thorough

<sup>37</sup> Forbearance Procedures NPRM, 22 FCC Rcd 21212 (2007). See Appendix C for a list of commenters.

<sup>38</sup> See Forbearance Procedures NPRM, 22 FCC Rcd at 21213-14, para. 6 (seeking comment on whether forbearance petitions should be required to be complete as filed).

<sup>39</sup> See Verizon Comments at 30-31; 34 (stating that the Commission has previously looked to evidence beyond that submitted, and that Commission orders have relied on analysis of section 10(a)(1) to serve for sections 10(a)(2) and (3)). Inasmuch as the Commission has not previously required petitioners to address the statutory criteria with particularity, we now amend that policy for reasons stated in this Order.

<sup>40</sup> See Appendix B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Forbearance Procedures NPRM, 22 FCC Rcd at 21215, para 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Forbearance Procedures NPRM, 22 FCC Rcd at 21215-16, para 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> The majority of commenters agree that the Commission should establish a rule requiring that any forbearance petition filed under section 10 of the Act should be complete when filed. *See, e.g.*, Access Point Comments at 16; California PUC at 5-6; City of Philadelphia Comments at 8; COMPTEL Comments at 7; Covad Comments at 6; (continued....)

comments on a fully-articulated proposal.<sup>42</sup> By contrast, less than complete petitions present interested parties with a moving target, which frustrates their efforts to respond fully and early in the process.<sup>43</sup> Keeping up with a petitioner's unfolding arguments and evidence also unreasonably burdens the resources of stakeholders.<sup>44</sup> This burden is especially onerous for smaller companies, which may be affected severely by grants of forbearance to large companies.<sup>45</sup> Second, complete petitions permit the Commission to act swiftly and efficiently on petitions that clearly meet the petitioner's burden of proof, or clearly fail to meet it.<sup>46</sup> By contrast, incomplete or disorganized petitions that cannot be properly evaluated are at odds with Congress's intent that the Commission to address more complex issues within the time allowed. Third, clear filing requirements create objective standards, which help petitioners file successful petitions that might otherwise fail for lack of clarity or sufficient support.<sup>48</sup> The Commission has imposed a similar requirement in a separate context for similar reasons.<sup>49</sup>

<sup>42</sup> See, e.g., Missouri PSC Comments at 4 (stating that a complete as filed requirement "will ensure that all parties have a fair opportunity to respond to the petitioner's request and evidence"); NJ Rate Counsel/NASUCA Comments at 11(stating that when forbearance petitioners add additional information after the filing of an initial petition, "it is difficult for others to engage in a full review and analysis and submit timely comments that provide analysis and/or rebuttal of any additional information and data"); SBA Comments at 7 (forcing carriers to present the requisite data at the outset will better enable all interested parties to present their views in an accurate manner before the Commission); Sprint Nextel Comments at 7 (stating that a complete as filed requirement is needed to ensure that forbearance proceedings are conducted in a fair manner that provides interested parties with a meaningful opportunity to express their views).

<sup>43</sup> See, e.g., Telecom Investors Comments at 6 (stating that "[a] moving target also prejudices the ability of affected parties to provide meaningful comment.").

<sup>44</sup> See, e.g., EarthLink Comments at 14 (stating that a "complete-as-filed" rule would allow commenters to focus limited time and resources on the real issues); SBA Comments at 7.

<sup>45</sup> SBA Comments at 4-7 (arguing in favor of greater procedural safeguards in general and a complete-as-filed rule in particular).

<sup>46</sup> As discussed in Section III.A.3, a petitioner for forbearance bears the burden of proof with respect to the three prongs of section 10 upon which it is requesting the Commission to make findings.

<sup>47</sup> 141 Cong. Rec. S7898 (June 7, 1995) (remarks of Senator Robert Dole that the purpose of forbearance is the "eliminat[ion] [of] outdated regulations . . . in a timely manner); see AT&T Comments at 19 (maintaining that petitions should be granted or denied as soon as possible).

<sup>48</sup> See, e.g., AT&T Comments at 2 (supporting elimination of regulations that are dated, costly, and counterproductive); Verizon Comments at 9-12 (describing benefits of section 10 in promoting competition and advanced services as Congress intended); see also SBA Comments at 7 (stating that the Commission should establish a framework which would bring clarity to the forbearance process, and provide small carriers with a better understanding of what they must show in order to support or oppose a forbearance grant).

<sup>49</sup> Commenters compare and contrast the complete-as-filed requirement we apply to forbearance petitions with the Commission's requirement that section 271 petitions must be complete as filed. *See, e.g.*, Verizon Comments at 29-31; AT&T Comments at 14-15. The Commission requires filings to be complete in numerous contexts in addition to section 271 petitions. *See, e.g.*, *Bell Atlantic-Delaware, Inc., et al. v. Global Naps, Inc.*, Memorandum Opinion and Order, File No. E-99-22, 15 FCC Rcd 12946, 12959, para. 24 (1999) (rejecting incomplete tariff and alluding to (continued....)

<sup>(</sup>Continued from previous page)

DeltaCom Comments at 5; EarthLink Comments at 14; Missouri PSC Comments at 4; NCTA Comments at 4; NARUC Comments at 2; NJ Rate Counsel/NASUCA Comments at 11; SBA Comments at 7; Sprint Nextel Comments at 7; Telecom Investors Comments at 5; TEXALTEL Comments at 7.

13. We reject the argument that, because the time limit for considering forbearance petitions is not as short as the time limit specified in section 271, we should not require forbearance petitions to be complete as filed.<sup>50</sup> Unlike rulemakings, section 10 limits time for the Commission to make specific determinations, and forbearance petitioners that continue to present their case after filing has triggered the statutory time limit unreasonably burden the resources of stakeholders and the Commission.<sup>51</sup> We also reject the argument that requiring petitions to be complete as filed would be counterproductive because the requirement may lead to procedural disputes among parties.<sup>52</sup> Disputes concerning the completeness of a petition may assist the Commission in the decision-making process by clarifying the scope of relief sought in the petition.<sup>53</sup> We disagree that completeness entails needless repetition.<sup>54</sup>

14. We acknowledge that we have not previously required petitioners to specify in the petition how the requested relief meets each of the three forbearance criteria, and that a requirement to do so will burden applicants to the extent that they must develop their supporting arguments in advance of filing.<sup>55</sup> We do not, however, consider this an unreasonable expectation, and we find that the benefit to both commenters and the Commission of clarity and precision outweighs the burden on the petitioner of explaining how forbearance from each regulation or statutory provision meets each prong. We reassure petitioners that this requirement is not formalistic or otherwise rigid and inflexible, but is designed to facilitate the Commission's efficient evaluation of whether the forbearance test has been met.<sup>56</sup> To the contrary, petitioners are encouraged to concentrate on the substance of their arguments, and to refrain from rote repetition.

<sup>50</sup> See, e.g., Verizon Comments at 31; AT&T Comments at 14-15 (both contrasting the 90 day limit for consideration of 271 application with the one year limit for consideration of forbearance petitions). Compare 47 U.S.C. § 271(d)(3) with § 160(c). See Verizon Comments at 29 (arguing that the complete-as-filed rule for section 10 is more stringent than the complete-as filed rule in section 271 proceedings because, in section 271 proceedings, the burden of production shifted to opponents once petitioner made a prima facie case; citing Application of Ameritech Michigan Pursuant to Section 271 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, To Provide In-Region, InterLATA Services In Michigan, Memorandum Opinion and Order, CC Docket No.97-137, 12 FCC Rcd 20543, 20572, para. 51 (1997)). In each case, a complete petition that makes a prima facie case puts a burden of production on opponents.

<sup>51</sup> See, e.g., Sprint Nextel Comments at 7 (complete-as-filed petition necessary for interested parties to express views); COMPTEL Comments at 4-5 (grants based on evidence not in petition unfair to commenters; assistance to petitioners in developing their case unfair to opponents); COMPTEL Comments at 7-9 (no fair opportunity to scrutinize last-minute filings); Time Warner Comments at 21, 23 (petitions seeking relief from "common carrier regulation" insufficiently precise); California PUC Comments at 5-6 (favoring notice of the relief sought and full opportunity to evaluate evidence). By contrast, in a rulemaking proceeding the Commission will consider all relevant comments and material of record before taking final action. See 47 C.F.R. § 1.425.

<sup>52</sup> Verizon Comments at 32 (filing requirements likely to provoke distracting procedural disputes).

<sup>53</sup> See 47 C.F.R. § 1.727(b) (dispositive motions regarding formal complaints).

<sup>54</sup> See AT&T Comments at 16-17 (arguing against needless repetition when reasons for forbearance overlap); Verizon Comments at 34 (arguing that requiring petitioners to address all three prongs is not consistent with precedent recognizing that the criteria are interrelated).

<sup>55</sup> See Verizon Comments at 34.

<sup>56</sup> See Verizon Comments at 33-34 (contending that requiring petitioners to argue all three prongs is rigid, inflexible, and inconsistent with the forbearance process).

<sup>(</sup>Continued from previous page)

long-standing principle that tariffs must be complete when filed); see also 47 C.F.R. § 1.1404 (pole attachment complaint requirements); 47 C.F.R. § 1.721 (format and content of formal complaints).

15. Commenters express concern that a complete-as-filed rule may discourage or frustrate forbearance petitions,<sup>57</sup> or unduly limit petitioners from responding to counterarguments,<sup>58</sup> or prevent petitioners from adding third party data,<sup>59</sup> or from supplementing the petition with additional data,<sup>60</sup> or preclude the Commission from considering evidence submitted by parties other than the petitioner,<sup>61</sup> but these concerns are misplaced. The requirement does not prevent a petitioner from seeking additional data from third parties.<sup>62</sup> At the time of filing, we merely require forbearance petitioners to identify the nature of the third-party information they need, the parties they believe possess it, and how the information relates to the petition.<sup>63</sup> The requirement does not limit a petitioner's ability to respond to arguments and data in oppositions and comments with counter-arguments and responsive data.<sup>64</sup> A petitioner may submit substantively new material, including new information, data, studies, or arguments, at the require updated data from a petitioner prior to reaching some determinations, and the filing requirement in no way prevents the Commission from seeking information or clarification from any source, or basing its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> See, e.g., AT&T Comments at 13-16 (expressing concern that the filing requirements may "hamstring" the process, or may serve as a "guise" for restarting the clock); Verizon Comments at 31-32; Quest Comments at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> See, e.g., Embarq Comments at 2-3 (stating that a complete-as filed requirement is unfair and inconsistent with the Administrative Procedures Act (APA) if it denies opportunity to respond to evidence).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> See, e.g., Qwest Comments at 14 (stating that sufficiently-granular third-party data are often critical to competitive analysis but unavailable to petitioners prior to filing.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> See, e.g., Verizon Comments at 31-32 (arguing that the Commission has appropriately relied on all the evidence in the record when considering petitions for forbearance.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> See Letter from Robert W. Quinn, Jr., Senior Vice President - Federal Regulatory, AT&T Services. Inc., to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, FCC, WC Docket No. 07-267 (filed June 12, 2009) (AT&T June 12, 2009 *Ex Parte* Letter).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> See AT&T Comments at 15-16 (noting that the formal complaint rules "contemplate that additional discovery will be conducted and that additional evidence will be submitted after the complaint is filed"). We contemplate that petitioners will seek third-party data in forbearance proceedings, and that a petitioner's knowledge of the data may be quite limited at the time of filing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> We clarify that the standard for identifying data, facts, and information held by third parties is the level of specificity available to a petitioner who exercises due diligence. In addition, a petitioner must make a reasonable effort to relate the data to be sought to specific prongs of the forbearance test.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> We disagree with AT&T that the rule will "prohibit petitioners (but not others) from providing the Commission with relevant, updated market information bearing on the original request for forbearance." AT&T Comments at 13. Petitioners may update data, and may likewise respond to commenters' submissions of data, as a matter of course. Petitioners may also submit new data that the Commission determines are relevant and do not materially alter the petition. *See* Letter from Nneka Ezenwa, Executive Director of Regulatory Affairs, Verizon, to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, FCC (filed June 4, 2009) (Verizon June 4, 2009 *Ex Parte* Letter) (stating that the Commission should recognize that a petitioner may always introduce evidence necessary to respond to the arguments of other parties or the data submitted by third parties).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> We reject arguments that filing any new data that supports the petition should necessarily restart the clock. *See, e.g.*, Access Point Comments at 26-27; Telecom Investors Comments at 6. The Commission will determine whether the new information materially alters the petition, and petitioners may obtain Commission leave to lessen the scope of their petition. *See* California PUC Comments at 5-6 (arguing that amendments that reduce the scope of a petition should not restart the clock); *Verizon Tel. Cos. v. FCC*, 374 F.3d 1229, 1232-35 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (holding that the Commission must explain why new material should require refiling, and that petitioners may narrow the scope of relief sought).

forbearance decision on all timely-filed evidence.<sup>66</sup> Having addressed these concerns, we state below the criteria for determining whether a forbearance petition is complete.

## 2. Definition of Complete as Filed

16. Scope. A petitioner for forbearance must identify clearly in the petition the scope of the requested relief. In particular, the petition must state the following with specificity: (1) each statutory provision, rule, or requirement from which forbearance is sought; (2) each carrier, or group of carriers, for which forbearance is sought; (3) each service for which forbearance is sought; (4) the geographic location, zone, or area in which forbearance is sought; and (5) any other factor, condition, or limitation relevant to determining the scope of the requested relief. The Commission's ability to make the determinations within the statutory time frame required is significantly compromised when a petition does not clearly state the relief sought.

17. The Prima Facie Case. A petition for forbearance must include in the petition the facts, information, data, and arguments on which the petitioner intends to rely to make the prima facie case for forbearance. Specifically, the prima facie case must show in detail how each of the statutory criteria are met with regard to each statutory provision or rule from which forbearance is sought.<sup>67</sup> A petition for forbearance must take into account relevant Commission precedent. If the petitioner intends to rely on data or information in the possession of third parties, the petition must identify the data or information, and the parties that possess it, and explain the relationship of the information to the prima facie case.<sup>68</sup> When the petition is filed at the Commission, the petitioner must provide a copy of it to each party identified as possessing relevant data or information, and the relevant Bureau will respond to requests for third-party discovery on a case-by-case basis.<sup>69</sup> Other than third-party information, a petition may not rely on data or information that is not made available, without charge, to the Commission staff and interested parties that agree to comply with any protective orders the Commission issues in the course of the proceeding. We find broad support for requiring petitioners to state a prima facie case.<sup>70</sup>

18. Relevant Proceedings. A petition for forbearance must identify any proceeding pending before the Commission in which the petitioner has requested, or otherwise taken a position regarding, relief that is identical to, or comparable to, the relief sought in the forbearance petition. Alternatively, the petition must state that the petitioner has not, in a pending proceeding, requested or otherwise taken a position on the relief sought, if that is the case.<sup>71</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> See, e.g., Memorandum Opinion and Order, Application by Qwest Communications International Inc., for Authorization to Provide In-Region, InterLATA Services in Minnesota, WC Docket No. 03-90, 18 FCC Rcd 13323, 13369-70, paras. 88-93 (2003) (waiving the complete-as-filed rule for a section 271 application).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> See, e.g., NCTA Comments at 4 (stating that the burden should be on the petitioner to identify each and every statutory or regulatory provision from which it is seeking relief and to provide all information within its control that demonstrates the statutory criteria are satisfied). Although we discourage needless redundancy, we do require express cross reference; the Commission will not assume relationships that a petition does not state.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> See Verizon Reply at 6 (stating that petition should identify third party data). The burden is on the petitioner, and not on the Commission, to identify the data and its relevance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> See infra Section III.D. (discussing proprietary data).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> See, e.g., AT&T Comments at 16 (stating that AT&T has no objection to the ... proposal that the Commission adopt rules that require a petitioner to explain in its petition why the requested relief satisfies each of the three forbearance factors); Covad Comments at 8; Time Warner Comments at 22-23; Access Point Reply at 8-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> To understand fully the issues posed by forbearance petitions, and to make determinations within the statutory timeframe, the Commission must be aware of any related issues that the Commission is attempting to resolve in (continued....)

19. Format and Filing Requirements. Petitions for forbearance must comply with the Commission's general filing requirements in 47 C.F.R. § 1.49.<sup>72</sup> In addition, all petitions for forbearance must be emailed to <u>forbearance@fcc.gov</u> at the time of filing. All filings including all data related to a forbearance petition must be provided in a searchable format. The steps a filer must take to ensure its submission is searchable will vary by context. At a minimum, a party that submits large spreadsheets of data should submit electronic copies of those data formatted so as to allow Commission staff and other interested parties a meaningful opportunity to analyze those data. A forbearance petition must include (1) a plain, concise, written summary statement of the relief sought; (2) a full statement of the petitioner's prima facie case for relief; and (3) appendices that list (a) the scope of relief sought, (b) all relevant data, including market analysis, and (c) any supporting statements or affidavits.

### 3. Burden of Proof

20. In the Forbearance Procedures NPRM, the Commission sought comment on which party bears the burden of proof in a forbearance proceeding.<sup>73</sup> We conclude that the petitioner bears the burden of proof – that is, of providing convincing analysis and evidence to support its petition for forbearance.<sup>74</sup> This has historically been the case in American jurisprudence.<sup>75</sup> The burden of proof is on the proponent in both formal rulemaking and formal adjudication, but we consider arguments whether a forbearance proceeding more closely resembles rulemaking or adjudication to be largely beside the point.<sup>76</sup> Whatever passing similarity to other procedures petitions for forbearance may have, the essential nature of a petition for forbearance is that it is a petition for relief from regulation. The petitioner asks the Commission to

<sup>73</sup> Forbearance Procedures NPRM, 22 FCC Rcd at 21212, para. 6; Covad Petition at 12-13.

<sup>74</sup> Most commenters agree that the petitioner bears the burden of proof. See, e.g., COMPTEL Comments at 5; Covad Comments at 6; EarthLink Comments at 2, 7; NCTA Comments at 4; SBA Comments at 8; Access Point Reply at 12-14; Comcast Reply at 1-4; COMPTEL Reply at 1-4. But see AT&T June 12, 2009 Ex Parte Letter (arguing that any rule recognizing that a forbearance petitioner bears the burden of proof would be unlawful).

<sup>75</sup> Although the "touchstone inquiry" is the "plain text of the statute," where the statute is silent, the "ordinary default rule" applies: "that plaintiffs bear the risk of failing to prove their claims." *Schaffer v. Weast*, 546 U.S. 49, 56, (2005) (holding that the burden of proof in an administrative hearing was properly placed upon the party seeking relief) (*Schaffer*); *see Dep't of Labor v. Greenwich Colleries*, 512 U.S. 267, 272-76 (1994) (describing the history of the "burden of proof" in American jurisprudence) (*Greenwich Colleries*); WILLIAM C. BURTON, BURTON'S LEGAL THESAURUS 484 (4th ed. 2007) (articulating the historic Latin maxim that the burden of proof lies on the complainant).

<sup>(</sup>Continued from previous page)

pending proceedings. Similarly, in light of the timeframe, disclosure of related filings is fair to opponents and commenters.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Our adoption of filing requirements used for rulemakings in no way implies that we consider a forbearance petitions to be, or fundamentally to resemble, rulemakings. For purposes of forbearance petitions, we adopt procedures that have proven to be equitable and serviceable in other contexts without resolving issues parties raise concerning which other proceedings forbearance proceedings most closely resemble. *See, e.g.*, Access Point Reply at 7-8 (arguing that the APA's procedural requirements for rulemakings apply to forbearance proceedings). *But see* AT&T Comments at 18 (contending that forbearance proceedings are adjudications and therefore not covered by the APA rulemaking rules); Telecom Investors Reply at 3 (arguing that classification of forbearance proceedings is not significant).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> See, e.g., AT&T Comments 18 (arguing that a forbearance proceeding is an adjudication); Qwest Comments at 13-14 (arguing that a forbearance proceeding is a rulemaking). The main issue is the adequacy of the record regardless of the nature of the proceeding. See 5 U.S.C. § 556(d) ("Except as otherwise provided by statute, the proponent of a rule or order has the burden of proof."); *id.* at § 553-54 (basic procedural requirements for adjudications and rulemakings).

forbear from enforcing against it one or more rules or statutory provisions, which the Commission will do if it determines that the petition meets the statutory criteria.<sup>77</sup> When the Commission receives petitions for relief including, for example, a carrier's petition to offer in-region long distance service under section 271 of the Act,<sup>78</sup> or a state's petition to retain authority over cellular rates,<sup>79</sup> or when the Commission explains how it will evaluate petitions under the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act (CALEA),<sup>80</sup> the Commission always requires the petitioner to produce sufficient evidence and analysis to warrant granting the relief sought. Likewise, the Commission requires petitioners to produce sufficient evidence and analysis to warrant the grant of a forbearance petition.<sup>81</sup> We now state explicitly that the burden of proof is on forbearance petitioners at the outset and throughout the proceeding.

<sup>78</sup> See, e.g., Application of BellSouth Corporation, BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc., and BellSouth Long Distance, Inc., for Provision of in-Region, InterLATA Services in Louisiana, Memorandum Opinion and Order, CC Docket No. 98-121, 13 FCC Rcd 20599, 20637-38, para. 56 (1998) ("Although there is often more than one type of evidence that an applicant can use to meet its burden of proof, we hope that this order will assist future applicants by identifying particular types of evidence we find persuasive in assessing whether the BOC has complied with the checklist."); Application by BellSouth Corporation, BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc., and BellSouth Long Distance, Inc., for Authorization to Provide In-Region, InterLATA Services in Florida and Tennessee, Memorandum Opinion and Order, WC Docket No. 02-307, 17 FCC Rcd 25828, 25840, para. 22 (2002) ("As the Commission's previous decisions make clear, a BOC may submit as part of its prima facie case a valid pricing determination .... Once the BOC makes a prima facie case of compliance, the objecting party must proffer evidence that persuasively rebuts the BOC's prima facie showing. The burden then shifts to the BOC to demonstrate the validity of its evidence.").

<sup>79</sup> See, e.g., Petition of the People of the State of California and the Public Utilities Commission of the State of California to Retain Regulatory Authority over Intrastate Cellular Service Rates, PR Docket No. 94-105, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 11 FCC Rcd 796, 800, para. 7 (1995) ("[The] CPUC did not present evidence showing widespread consumer dissatisfaction with CMRS providers in that state, [and] . . . failed to advance any persuasive analysis regarding the critical issue of investment by cellular licensees.").

<sup>80</sup> See Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act and Broadband Access and Services, ET Docket No. 04-295, Second Report and Order and Memorandum Opinion and Order, 21 FCC Rcd 5360, 5384-85 (2006) (explaining "persuasive evidence" required for the Commission to make CALEA statutory determinations).

<sup>81</sup> See, e.g., Petitions of Qwest Corporation for Forbearance Pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) in the Denver, Minneapolis-St. Paul, Phoenix, and Seattle Metropolitan Statistical Areas, WC Docket No. 07-97, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 23 FCC Rcd 11729, 11750, 11754-58, paras. 28, 36, 39 (2008) (Qwest 4 MSA Order) (noting that Qwest had failed to meet its burden of persuasion regarding sufficiency of market share); Petition of Verizon Telephone Companies for Forbearance Pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) in the Boston, New York, Philadelphia, Pittsburgh, Providence and Virginia Beach Metropolitan Statistical Areas, Inc., WC Docket No. 06-172, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 22 FCC Rcd 21293, 21309-10, 21313-17, paras. 28, 30, 37, 40 (2007) (Verizon 6 MSA Forbearance Order) (noting that Verizon's arguments and data failed to meet its burden of persuasion), appeal docketed, No. 08-1012 (D.C. Cir. filed Jan. 14, 2008); Bell Operating Companies Petitions for Forbearance from the Application of Section 272 of the Communications Act of 1934, As Amended, to Certain Activities, CC Docket No. 96-149, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 13 FCC Rcd 2627, 2637, para. 16 (CCB 1998) ("To forbear, we must determine that each of the three forbearance criteria set forth in section 10 are met. Application of those criteria is not a simple task, and a decision to forbear must be based upon a record that contains more than broad, unsupported allegations of why those criteria are met."); see also, e.g., Amendment of the Commission's Rules Concerning Maritime Communications, PR Docket No. 92-257, Third Report and Order and Memorandum Opinion and Order, 13 FCC Rcd 19853, 19879-80, para. 55 (1998) ("MariTEL's request cannot be granted because it is too vague, both as to the specific provisions from which we should forbear from enforcing, and as to why forbearance would be in the public interest.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> See 47 U.S.C. §160(c).

21. We further clarify that the "burden of proof" for the purpose of forbearance proceedings encompasses both the burden of production<sup>82</sup> and the burden of persuasion.<sup>83</sup> The burden of production in this context requires that the petitioner state a complete *prima facie* case in the petition, the precise requirements of which we discuss in the "complete as filed" section.<sup>84</sup> The burden of persuasion requires that, in addition to stating a *prima facie* case, the petitioner's evidence and analysis must withstand the evidence and analysis propounded by those opposing the petition for forbearance.<sup>85</sup> If the petitioner does not support the case for forbearance with sufficient evidence and persuasive arguments, the Commission cannot make an informed and reasoned determination that the statutory criteria are met.<sup>86</sup> In determining whether a petitioner has met its burden of proof, the totality of the record will be taken into consideration. For example, the Commission will consider evidence filed in the record by third parties that is favorable to the petitioner's position as part of the petitioner's showing.

22. We disagree with parties who maintain that the Commission has "an ongoing burden to justify regulation" and we find no burden of proof placed on the Commission "clearly" written into the statute, as some commenters allege.<sup>87</sup> The statute does state plainly that the Commission must attend promptly to petitions for forbearance, and specifically that "[a]ny such petition shall be deemed granted if the Commission does not deny the petition for failure to meet the requirements for forbearance under subsection (a) of this section within one year after the Commission receives it, unless the one-year period is extended by the Commission."<sup>88</sup> Section 10(c) also requires the Commission to forbear from applying a regulation or statutory provision if it determines that the statutory criteria are met, that is to say, if the regulation or provision is no longer necessary to protect other carriers, consumers, and the public

<sup>88</sup> See 47 U.S.C. § 160(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> The burden of production is typically understood as "which party bears the obligation to come forward with the evidence at different points in the proceeding." *Schaffer*, 546 U.S. at 56. It also means the burden of making the initial case. *See, e.g.*, Verizon/Verizon Wireless Comments at 39 (agreeing that "forbearance petitioners are required to make out, in their petition, a *prima facie* case that the statutory criteria for forbearance are met").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> See Schaffer, 546 U.S. at 56 (burden of persuasion is defined as "which party loses if the evidence is closely balanced"); Greenwich Colleries, 512 U.S. 267, 278-80 (finding that the burden of persuasion properly rests on the petitioner unless the statute states otherwise); see also 5 U.S.C. § 556(d) (Rulemakings and adjudications "on the record after opportunity for a hearing" require the burden of proof to be put on the "proponent of a rule or order.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> See supra Section III.A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> See supra note 75 (citing Schaffer, Greenwich Colleries, and 5 U.S.C. § 556(d)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Forbearance may only be granted if the Commission determines that: "(1) enforcement of such regulation or provision is not necessary to ensure that the charges, practices, classifications, or regulations by, for, or in connection with that telecommunications carrier or telecommunications service are just and reasonable and are not unjustly or unreasonably discriminatory; (2) enforcement of such regulation or provision is not necessary for the protection of consumers; and (3) forbearance from applying such provision or regulation is consistent with the public interest." 47 U.S.C. § 160(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> See, e.g., Qwest Comments at 12-14 (arguing that the Commission has a perpetual burden to justify continued regulation); ALEC Reply at 3 (arguing that section 10's "plain terms" place the burden of proof on the Commission); Discovery Institute Comments at 4 (arguing that the statutory language "clear[ly]" puts the burden on the Commission); Verizon Comments at 39-40. But see SBA Comment at 7-8 (stating that the statutory language fails to indicate whether the petitioner must carry the burden of proof; therefore, the Commission should clarify that the petitioner maintains the burden of presenting the requisite data "as this party is the one requesting regulatory change"); Comcast Reply at 3 (arguing that the burden of proof is not on the Commission as a result of the "deemed grant" provision); COMPTEL Reply at 1-4 (arguing that placing the burden on the petitioner is consistent with the Act).

interest.<sup>89</sup> But it is for the petitioner to convince the Commission to make those determinations in the petitioner's favor.

23. Verizon contends that the petitioner's inability to compel the production of evidence vital to forbearance proceedings makes it unfair to apply a burden of proof to the petitioner.<sup>90</sup> We disagree. As we define the burden of production, a petitioner need only explain the relevance of evidence it believes is held by third parties in order to make a *prima facie* case for forbearance. AT&T argues that section 10 requires the Commission to forbear from applying rules or provisions of the Act if the statutory criteria are met regardless of whether any party files a petition, and for that reason the Commission may not impose a burden of proof upon a petitioner.<sup>91</sup> We disagree. We do not "impose" any new burden on petitioners, but rather simply recognize that a proponent of regulatory relief is seeking to convince the Commission to make the "determinations" required under section 10 before such relief can be granted, and thus the petitioner bears the twin burdens of production and persuasion—the "burden of proof"—as we demonstrate above. Others argue that, because some Commissioners have opined in separate statements that the burden is on the Commission, the burden is in fact on the Commission action.<sup>93</sup>

## B. Transparent Procedures, Actively Managed.

24. As stated above, the rules we adopt today promote a clearly defined, front-loaded, transparent, and actively-managed process. Having laid out the complete-as-filed requirement above, and clarified a petitioner's burden, we turn now to transparency and active management of the forbearance proceeding.

### 1. Transparency

25. After the rules we adopt in this Order take effect, the Commission will post on its web site a timeline intended to identify the stages of review of forbearance petitions. The web page will also contain docket numbers, contact information, and a link to the Commission's Electronic Comment Filing System. Posting this information will promote a better understanding of how the Commission gives full and timely attention to the issues presented in a forbearance petition, and will establish a framework that describes how review of a forbearance petition should normally progress.

<sup>91</sup> See, e.g., AT&T June 12, 2009 Ex Parte Letter (arguing that any rule recognizing that a forbearance petitioner bears the burden of proof would be unlawful).

<sup>92</sup> See, e.g., Qwest Comments at 15 (citing statement of Chairman Powell); AT&T Comments at 3 (citing statement of Chairman Martin); see also Separate Statement of Commissioner Harold Furchtgott-Roth, Policy and Rules Concerning the Interstate Interexchange Marketplace; Implementation of Section 254(g) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended; Petitions for Forbearance, CC Docket No. 96-61, 1999 WL 556977 (rel. Aug. 2, 1999) ("I believe that the Section 10 forbearance scheme requires the Commission to justify continued regulation in light of the competitive conditions in the marketplace."); Dissenting Statement of Commissioner Michael K. Powell, Policy and Rules Concerning the Interstate Interexchange Marketplace; Implementation of Section 254(g) of the Communications and Rules Concerning the Interstate Interexchange Marketplace; Implementation of Section 254(g) of the Communications and Rules Concerning the Interstate Interexchange Marketplace; Implementation of Section 254(g) of the Communications Act of 1934, as Amended; Petitions for Forbearance, CC Docket No. 96-61, 1999 WL 38420 (rel. Jan. 29, 1999) ("[U]nder the Congressional forbearance scheme, the Commission has an obligation to validate or justify continued regulation in light of competitive conditions.").

<sup>93</sup> Sprint Nextel Corp. v. FCC, 508 F.3d 1129, 1133 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (holding that Commissioners' individual statements are not institutional Commission actions). See Ill. Citizens Comm. for Broad. v. FCC, 515 F.2d 397, 402 (D.C. Cir. 1975).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> See 47 U.S.C. § 160(a) and (c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Verizon Comments at 39-40.

26. A general timeline necessarily oversimplifies the process, and the circumstances of individual cases will differ. Internal deadlines create no enforceable rights for private parties, and such targets should be understood rather as goals for internal Commission action. The timeline should therefore be viewed as a flexible tool, and the order and timing may vary. Generally, the later stages and times are intended to indicate procedural goals for the most complex petitions. The statutory obligation to determine each of section 10's three prongs takes precedence over the informal timeline, and the Commission's failure to adhere to a benchmark is not indicative of how it will resolve the issues raised in a proceeding.

### 2. Active Management of Proceedings

27. Filing and Initial Review. Filing a petition starts the clock on the statutory time limit.<sup>94</sup> As we discuss above, a forbearance petition must be complete as filed, and must be emailed to <u>forbearance@fcc.gov</u> at the time of filing. In addition, to ensure immediate attention, we recommend that petitioners contact the relevant Bureau prior to filing.<sup>95</sup> The Bureau will review the petition upon receipt. A petition that on its face is incomplete or defective will be summarily denied.<sup>96</sup> As a practical matter, the initial review upon filing should determine whether the petition appears to be complete, coherent, and sufficiently specific to serve as a basis for comment. The legal standard for summary denial is whether the petition, viewed in the light most favorable to the petitioner, fails to meet the requirements for forbearance specified in the statute.<sup>97</sup>

28. Summary denial on receipt gives petitioners an early opportunity to cure and refile, and respects interested parties' resources.<sup>98</sup> Failure by the Bureau to summarily deny a petition upon receipt does not establish or even imply that the petition is "complete as filed." It merely establishes that the petitioner has observed the filing procedures we adopt today and that no fatal insufficiency is evident upon cursory review. Threshold questions about a petition's completeness may be sufficiently complex to require comment and consideration.

29. *Public Notice*. If a petition appears to be complete and coherent on its face, the Bureau will give public notice and post the petition on the forbearance page of the Commission's website.<sup>99</sup> The

<sup>97</sup> Cf. 47 C.F.R. §1.728 (providing for dismissal of defective formal complaints).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> We reject as contrary to the statute the Pennsylvania PUC's suggestion that we may delay starting the clock until we publish notice of the petition in the Federal Register or the Daily Digest. Pennsylvania PUC Comments at 12. See 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) (specifying that receipt of the petition by the Commission begins the time limit).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> We do not judge whether or not we may require prior notification under section 10. See AT&T Reply at 10 (arguing that a notification requirement is not consistent with the time limit in section 10). We reject NJ Rate Counsel/NASUCA's suggestion that we require 60 days prior notice. NJ Rate Counsel/NASUCA Comments at 28. Petitioners advance their own interest in the timeliest possible review of the petition by notifying the relevant Bureau before filing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> See Verizon Reply at 6-7 (arguing that the Commission should quickly deny defective petitions in order to conserve Commission and industry resources). Summary denial is without prejudice to refiling.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> See Access Point Comments at 9-11 (arguing that the Commission should deny duplicative or repetitious petitions). It is entirely appropriate for a petitioner to amend and refile a defective petition, or one that has been found unsupported or unpersuasive. For that matter, the Commission may *sua sponte* incorporate a forbearance petition record in a notice of proposed rulemaking. We perceive no limitation on such actions in the letter or intent of section 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Although we model our notice rules for petitions for forbearance on our notice rules for rulemakings at 47 C.F.R. § 1.413, this in no way implies that we consider forbearance petition proceedings to be, or fundamentally to resemble, rulemakings.

notice will announce the pleading cycle, which will typically allow 30 days for comments and 15 days for replies, with longer cycles for the more complex petitions.<sup>100</sup> The Bureau may issue a protective order, as needed.<sup>101</sup> Motions for summary denial may be filed not later than the due date for comments, to which the petitioner may file an opposition not later than the due date for replies. In the interest of completing the record in one cycle, and consistent with our formal complaint rules, replies to oppositions to motions for summary denial will not be permitted.<sup>102</sup> We disagree with comments to the effect that public notice and comment cycles for forbearance petitions are not required and may not always be appropriate.<sup>103</sup> We find public comment necessary to identify issues and to help the Commission understand the policy ramifications of a petition from varying points of view. Although we describe here the typical comment cycle for forbearance petitions, we retain the flexibility to ensure that the time for comment on any individual forbearance petition is both adequate and not needlessly long.

30. Motions for Summary Denial. Commenters may use motions for summary denial to focus their attention on completeness and clarity, and should avoid conflating these threshold issues with their substantive arguments. A contention, for example, that a petition does not address an issue at a sufficiently granular level to permit meaningful analysis of whether or not the statutory criteria are met might form the basis of a motion for summary denial. Because we expect the arguments and scope of the relief sought to vary widely from petition to petition, the adequate granularity of data may likewise vary, and for that reason we would judge on a case-by-case basis whether or not a petition for forbearance requires supporting data at, for example, the wire center level.<sup>104</sup> Failure by the Bureau to deny a petition summarily does not establish that the petition is "complete as filed." Although the Bureau may grant a motion for summary denial, it may instead use the record generated by the motion to better understand threshold issues early in the process. All parties are best served when these issues regarding specificity

<sup>102</sup> We agree with Verizon that it is counterproductive to delay consideration of the issues by prolonging the comment cycle. *See* Verizon Comments at 28. The fact that our formal-complaint rule, 47 C.F.R § 1.727(f), also does not permit replies to oppositions to motions in no way implies that we consider forbearance petition proceedings to be, or fundamentally to resemble, adjudicatory proceedings.

<sup>103</sup> See AT&T Comments at 17-18 (arguing that, because forbearance petitions are adjudicatory, APA rulemaking provisions should not apply); Qwest Comments at 12-13 (maintaining that a standard comment period is not appropriate when a petition is refiled).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Most commenters favor the use of notice and comment procedures in forbearance proceedings. *See, e.g.*, SBA Comments at 5-6 (stating that the forbearance process should be subject to notice and comment procedures because receiving input from industry is critical to well-reasoned decisions consistent with the APA and the RFA); *see also* COMPTEL Comments at 6; NJ Rate Counsel/NASUCA Comments at 9; Sprint Nextel Comments at 5-6; Telecom Investors Comments at 3-4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> See 47 C.F.R. §§ 0.457-0.459. See also NARUC Comments at 2, 10; NJ Rate Counsel/NASUCA Comments at 19; Time Warner Comments at 27. We discuss comments received regarding proprietary information *infra* in Section III.D.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> See Forbearance Procedures NPRM, 22 FCC Rcd at 21215, para. 10. Several parties disagree whether a petitioner requesting forbearance from regulations under sections 251 or 271 must submit all supporting data for its petition at the wire center level. See, e.g., California PUC Comments at 9 (requesting that parties seeking forbearance from sections 251 and/or 271 file all supporting data at the wire center level and relevant declarations in support of that wire center data); NJ Rate Counsel/NASUCA Comments at 14. But see AT&T Comments at 21 (stating that the Commission should not mandate wire center level data in all forbearance proceedings); Frontier Comments at 4 (arguing that provision of supporting data at the wire center level would not be relevant to the issues); Qwest Comments at 16 (stating it is not at all clear that wire center data should or will be required in all instances).

and sufficiency are identified quickly and brought to the forefront.<sup>105</sup> The Commission may address a motion for denial at any time, up to and including the statutory time limit for Commission action.

31. Intermediate Period. An intermediate period consisting roughly of months 3 through 10 follows the closing of the comment cycle. During this period, the Bureau will consider whether to grant or deny routine or less complex forbearance petitions that clearly meet, or clearly fail to meet, the statutory forbearance criteria. We anticipate that the Commission will be able to resolve such petitions within six months of their filing.<sup>106</sup> For more complex petitions, the Bureau may actively develop the record where appropriate during this intermediate period, and will review comments, analyze data, and discuss the merits of the petition with the Commissioners and their staff.

32. Circulation and Quiet Period. The final period will generally consist roughly of months 11 and 12 in normal cases, or months 14 and 15 if the Commission requires an extension of time.<sup>107</sup> During this period, several important steps will occur. These steps include: additional consultations among the Commissioners' offices and between the Commissioners' offices and the Bureau staff; circulation of a draft order; establishment of a quiet period;<sup>108</sup> and voting of the order. In this Order, we adopt an internal deadline of seven days prior to the statutory deadline for voting any forbearance order, whether on circulation or at an agenda meeting. An early vote gives a majority that votes *against* the circulated draft an opportunity to draft a replacement order prior to the statutory deadline. An early vote also will generally ensure that the Commission will be able to make the necessary determinations and release an order before the statutory deadline.

33. We clarify that the timing of each step described below is calculated against the statutory deadline, and not against the deadline for the vote, which we determine, as set forth above, should occur seven days prior to the statutory deadline. The Bureau will circulate a draft order addressing a complex forbearance petition no later than 28 days prior to the statutory deadline, which is to say, 21 days prior to the voting deadline, unless all Commissioners agree to a shorter period.<sup>109</sup> We establish a two-week quiet period before the statutory deadline (one week before the voting deadline) for forbearance petitions, which is analogous to the one-week quiet period before an agenda meeting.<sup>110</sup> A public notice, posted on

<sup>108</sup> See 47 C.F.R. § 1.1203.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> See Forbearance Procedures NPRM, 22 FCC Rcd at 21214-15, para. 9. Many commenters agree that there is a need for timetables for motions to deny or dismiss. See, e.g., Access Point Comments at 41-42; EarthLink Comments at 7, 14-16; Arizona Corporation Commission Reply at 12-13. But see AT&T Comments at 20 (contending that the rule would invite a time-consuming, endless stream of motions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> See Verizon June 4, 2009 Ex Parte Letter (recommending that the Commission set a 180-day target for complex forbearance petitions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) ("The Commission may extend the initial one-year period by an additional 90 days if the Commission finds that an extension is necessary to meet the requirements of subsection (a).").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> The Bureau circulates a draft order by permission of the Chairman.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> The quiet period procedures will parallel those applied, under section 1.1203 of the Commission's rules, to Sunshine Agenda matters. See 47 C.F.R. § 1.1203. The forbearance quiet period will last for two weeks, and will apply regardless of whether the Commissioners plan to vote the order on circulation or at an agenda meeting. AT&T does not object to a rule that would preclude parties from making *ex parte* submissions within 14 days of a statutory deadline, except in response to specific Commission or staff requests. AT&T Comments at 20. Competitive LECs support much earlier deadlines for the filing of substantive *ex partes*. See, e.g., Access Point Comments at 44-45; Sprint Nextel Comments at 8; Covad Comments at 6; California PUC Comments at 8-9; Pennsylvania PUC Comments at 7; AdHoc Comments at 2.

the website, will announce the beginning of the quiet period, which may occur earlier in the proceeding in cases where the Commission does not require the full statutory period to render a decision.

34. This quiet period will enable the Commissioners and their staff to consider a proposed order, and will shield them from lobbying by either the petitioner or the opponents of the petition. Some commenters argue that any limit to *ex parte* presentations would be contrary to congressional intent, or effectively prevent the Commission from considering the best and most recent information relevant to the petition.<sup>111</sup> We disagree that a quiet period contravenes the intent of the statute.<sup>112</sup> If anything, a period of undistracted consideration furthers the goal of timely decisionmaking. Restricting contact with outside parties during the final week before voting does not deprive parties of more than adequate opportunity to present their case to the Commission, both in the paper record and in meetings. In many cases, such a proceeding continues for a year or more, and the proceeding. The benefits we describe above – allowing the Commissioners and their staff to carefully consider fully developed issues in a proceeding that is not changing by the hour – more than outweigh any inconvenience to the petitioner and other stakeholders.<sup>113</sup> Absent unusual circumstances, this quiet period will end with the release of a Commission order addressing the forbearance petition, or if approved by the Commission, withdrawal of the petition by the petitioner.

#### C. Withdrawal of Forbearance Petitions

35. To prevent waste, and to ensure that arguments against forbearance are not structurally disfavored, we conclude that the Commission, rather than solely the petitioner, should decide whether or not a forbearance proceeding concludes with any action other than the issuance of a decision by the Commission. In the *Forbearance Procedures NPRM*, the Commission sought comment on whether forbearance petitions may unreasonably burden stakeholders, make ineffective use of Commission resources, drive the Commission's decision-making process, or otherwise operate in a way other than that intended by Congress.<sup>114</sup> Numerous commenters voice these concerns, including Time Warner, which argues that limits should be placed on the withdrawal of forbearance petitions, nor may a petitioner narrow a petition so significantly as to amount to a withdrawal of a large portion of the forbearance relief originally requested by the petitioner after the date that its reply comments are due plus 10 business days, unless the Commission authorizes the withdrawal. A petitioner is free to withdraw or narrow a petition prior to such date.

36. The current practice of "Heads, I win; Tails, I withdraw" has a number of pernicious side effects. Full-fledged participation in the notice and comment process generated by forbearance petitions puts an enormous burden on stakeholders' resources.<sup>116</sup> Mounting repeated defenses against multiple forbearance petitions, possibly all raising similar issues in different markets, wastes competitors'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> See, e.g., Verizon Comments at 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> See Frontier Comments at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> See, e.g., Frontier Comments at 3; Verizon Comments at 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> See Forbearance Procedures NPRM, 22 FCC Rcd at 21215, para. 6; Time Warner Comments (arguing that limits should be placed on the withdrawal of forbearance petitions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> See Time Warner Comments (arguing that limits should be placed on the withdrawal of forbearance petitions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> See Letter from Thomas Jones, Counsel for One Communications Corp. et al., to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, FCC, WC Docket No. 08-49 (May 13, 2009) (One Communications May 13, 2009 *Ex Parte* Letter) (stating that competitors incur enormous costs opposing forbearance petitions).

resources if those proceedings do not result in greater regulatory clarity.<sup>117</sup> Permitting petitioners to withdraw their petitions without Commission approval is not only wasteful but also unfair to commenters that invest so much in the regulatory process.<sup>118</sup> Thus, whether the Commission decides the issues raised in a forbearance petition should not be left solely to the petitioner's discretion.<sup>119</sup>

37. The Commission also must allocate substantial resources to address forbearance petitions, resources that it otherwise could devote to other pressing matters. If no order results, the resources will have been expended without significant public benefit.<sup>120</sup> For example, Verizon recently withdrew two petitions seeking forbearance from various regulatory and statutory requirements in Rhode Island and Cox's service territory in the Virginia Beach MSA.<sup>121</sup> When the Commission devotes significant time to summarizing a record, analyzing data, weighing arguments, and otherwise conducting a complex forbearance proceeding, the decision to cast the effort aside should not be left to a private party. The Commission has a significant stake in the matter if it is to maintain control over its own agenda and apportion its resources in a way that serves the public interest. For similar reasons, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41 requires a complainant to get court permission before withdrawing a complaint if the withdrawal comes after the filing of an answer or motion for summary judgment.<sup>122</sup>

38. Permitting parties to withdraw petitions in the late stages of a proceeding that are otherwise headed for denial could also distort the Commission's jurisprudence.<sup>123</sup> Over time, Commission precedent could tilt toward orders that contain analysis and reasoning in support of forbearance petitioners, and away from orders that make a case against them. If petitioners are allowed to select the orders that the Commission adopts, they could inadvertently or deliberately push precedent in a direction favorable to themselves, and thus exert undue influence on regulatory policy.

<sup>119</sup> See AT&T Corp. v. FCC, 220 F.3d 607, 630-31 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (upholding the Commission's reference to administrability concerns in interpreting a provision of the Act, and citing the Commission's discretion with regard to "judgment[s] about the most efficient way to proceed in . . . complex administrative matter[s]").

<sup>120</sup> One Communications May 13, 2009 Ex Parte Letter at 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Moreover, although many of the recent forbearance petitions that have been filed sought benefits that would accrue primarily to some of the industries' largest participants, as the SBA argues, the burdens of the forbearance process may be most pronounced for the communications industry's smaller entities. *See* SBA Comments at 4-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Cf. ACS of Alaska, Inc., ACS of Anchorage, Inc., ACS of Fairbanks, Inc., and ACS of the Northland, Inc., Petition for Conversion to Price Cap Regulation and Limited Waiver Relief, WC Docket No. 08-220, Order, DA 09-854 (WCB rel. Apr. 17, 2009) (stating that "[f]orbearance petitions require tremendous Commission resources to resolve" and encouraging parties not to file forbearance petitions seeking relief that will be superseded shortly).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> See Letter of Dee May, Vice President, Federal Regulatory, Verizon, to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, FCC, WC Docket. Nos. 08-24, 08-49 (filed May 12, 2009); Letter from Michael J. Copps, Acting Chairman, FCC, to Henry A. Waxman, Chairman, Committee on Energy and Commerce, U.S. House of Representatives (June 5, 2009) (reporting that the Commission spent 2,096 hours (at a personnel cost of \$149,772) and received over 1850 pages of comment on petitions that Verizon withdrew on May 12, 2009), *available at* 

http://74.125.95.132/search?q=cache:4O8HL2yU8mAJ:energycommerce.house.gov/Press\_111/20090609/copps.pdf +Copps+verizon+withdrawal&cd=2&hl=en&ct=clnk&gl=us (last visited June 16, 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> See Fed. R. Civ. P. 41; see, e.g., In re Piper Aircraft Distribution System Antitrust Litigation, 551 F.2d 231, 220 (8th Cir. 1977) (explaining that the purpose of Fed. R. Civ. P. 41 "is to is to fix the point at which the resources of the court and the defendant are so committed that dismissal without preclusive consequences can no longer be had as of right").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> One Communications May 13, 2009 Ex Parte Letter at 1-2.

## D. Other Matters

39. Proprietary Data. Nothing in the record convinces us to amend the Commission's existing rules regarding the submission and disclosure of confidential information at this time.<sup>124</sup> We will continue to address on a case-by-case basis issues regarding access to proprietary data that our rules do not address. This approach permits us to balance the need for information against the risk of disclosure in individual circumstances. In particular, we decline on the basis of this record to reexamine our rules defining proprietary information.<sup>125</sup> Similarly, because a broad range of materials may require confidential treatment, we do not adopt at this time a new rule regarding format requirements on third party submissions.<sup>126</sup> We likewise reject calls to permit photocopying, or otherwise expand the limitations on use of proprietary data beyond those outlined in individual protective orders.<sup>127</sup> Finally, we continue to balance need versus risk when deciding when it is permissible to share confidential information with other governmental bodies and agencies, and therefore do not adopt a blanket rule that would govern requests for data by state commissions.<sup>128</sup>

40. Application to Pending Petitions. The new complete-as-filed rules we adopt today take effect after this Order has been published in the Federal Register and subject to approval by the Office of Management and Budget.<sup>129</sup> The Commission sought comment in the Forbearance Procedures NPRM regarding the effect, if any, of new procedures on pending petitions.<sup>130</sup> Some commenters argue that it would be neither appropriate nor fair to apply the new procedures to forbearance petitions that have already been filed.<sup>131</sup> We agree, but only with regard to the complete-as-filed rules that define what a

<sup>127</sup> See, e.g., Access Point Comments at 35 (arguing that market share data should not be considered proprietary); Time Warner Comments at 27 (favoring, for example, use of proprietary data by authorized person in related proceedings and removal of prohibition of photocopying proprietary data).

<sup>128</sup> See, e.g., NARUC Comments at 6 (arguing that data should be shared with state commissions in view of their staffing and budget constraints).

<sup>129</sup> See infra Section IV.B. (Paperwork Reduction Act requirements).

<sup>130</sup> See Forbearance Procedures NPRM, 22 FCC Rcd at 21215, para. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> See 47 C.F.R. § 0.459 (rules governing requests that materials or information submitted to the Commission be withheld from public inspection); 47 C.F.R § 0.457 (records not routinely available for public inspection). See, e.g., NJ Rate Counsel/NASUCA Comments at 19-20 (requesting that parties be allowed to use proprietary documents from one forbearance proceeding in another forbearance proceeding); Time Warner Comments at 27 (requesting that the Commission permit authorized persons to use proprietary information in related proceedings).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> See, e.g., Access Comments at 31-37 (maintaining that current standards for redaction are unduly restrictive and abnormally cautious).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> See, e.g., Petitions of Qwest Corporation for Forbearance Pursuant To 47 U.S.C. § 160(c) in the Denver, Minneapolis-St. Paul, Phoenix, and Seattle Metropolitan Statistical Areas, First Protective Order, WC Docket No. 07-97, 22 FCC Rcd 10129, para. 2 (WCB 2007) (stating that "the term 'document' means all written, recorded, or graphic material, whether produced or created by a party or another person, whether produced pursuant to the Commission's rules, pursuant to subpoena, by agreement, or otherwise"); Time Warner Comments at 27; NARUC Comments at 6; NJ Rate Counsel/NASUCA Comments at 19 (all arguing in favor of requiring searchable formats).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> See, e.g., AT&T Comments at 27 (stating the Commission does not have legal authority to adopt new forbearance rules on a retroactive basis); ITTA Comments at 5 (claiming it would be inequitable to apply procedural rules retroactively); Qwest Comments at 18 (fundamentally unfair to apply new procedures to existing forbearance petitions); Landgraf v. USI Film Products et al., 511 U.S. 244, 280 (1994) (Landgraf) (defining an impermissible retroactive rule as one that "would impair rights a party possessed when he acted, ... or impose new duties with respect to transactions already completed").

petitioner must include in a forbearance petition.<sup>132</sup> Other new requirements will apply to pending petitions, including rules that require a petitioner to seek permission from the relevant Bureau before filing new arguments or data (except in response to new arguments or data filed by commenters, to which the petitioner may respond by right); rules that limit when forbearance petitions may be withdrawn or narrowed as of right; rules that limit *ex parte* contacts in the final weeks before a decision is due; and any other rule that "would [not] impair rights a party possessed when he acted, increase a party's liability for past conduct, or impose new duties with respect to transactions already completed."<sup>133</sup> In contrast to the new filing requirements, these rules do not apply to a petitioner's past actions and thus are not directly retroactive.<sup>134</sup> Thus, they will take effect 30 days after publication of this Order in the Federal Register.<sup>135</sup>

## IV. PROCEDURAL MATTERS

#### A. Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis

41. Pursuant to the Regulatory Flexibility Act (RFA),<sup>136</sup> the Commission has prepared a Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis (FRFA) for the Order concerning the possible significant economic impact on small entities by the policies and actions considered in the Report and Order. The text of the Supplemental FRFA is included in Appendix A.

### B. Paperwork Reduction Act

42. Paperwork Reduction Act. The Report and Order contains new and modified information collection requirements subject to the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995 (PRA), Public Law No. 104-13. It will be submitted to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) for review under Section 3507(d) of the PRA. The OMB, the general public, and other Federal agencies are invited to comment on the new and modified information collection requirements contained in this proceeding. In addition, we note that, pursuant to the Small Business Paperwork Relief Act of 2005, Public Law No. 107-198, see 44 U.S.C. § 3506(c)(4) (SBPRA), we have considered how the Commission might "further reduce the information collection burden for small business concerns with fewer than 25 employees." We find that the new and

<sup>135</sup> See 5 U.S.C. § 553(d) ("The required [Federal Register] publication or service of a substantive rule shall be made not less than 30 days before its effective date.")

 $<sup>^{132}</sup>$  Bowen v. Georgetown University Hospital, 488 U.S. 204, 208 (1988) (holding that legislative rules adopted pursuant to the APA's notice and comment procedures may only be applied prospectively, unless there is statutory authority to apply them retroactively).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> See supra Landgraf, 511 U.S. at 280.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> See Landgraf, 511 U.S. at 269-70 (holding statute does not operate retrospectively if it merely upsets expectations based in prior law); Chadmoore Comm. Inc. v. FCC, 113 F.3d 235, 240-41 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (mere filing of upgrade applications did not vest petitioners with a legally cognizable expectation interest); NCTA v. FCC, 2009 WL 1444094 (D.C. Cir. May 26, 2009) (finding that an agency order that upsets expectations based on prior law is not retroactive); see, e.g., Access Point Comments at 12-14; Access Point Reply at 12-14 (arguing that procedural changes would neither impose new duties nor affect vested interests). Nor do we believe that these changes would have any significant secondarily retroactive effect. See NCTA, supra, at \* 11. Even assuming that they would, however, we think the considerable benefits of applying these rules to pending petitions (including improved decision-making and increased fairness to all interested parties) outweigh any minimal expectation interests petitioners might have had in having their petitions adjudicated without these new requirements. See id. (noting that case law requires agencies to "balance the harmful 'secondary retroactivity' of upsetting prior expectations or existing investments against the benefits of applying their rules to those preexisting interests").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> See 5 U.S.C. § 603. The RFA, see U.S.C. §601 et seq., has been amended by the Contract with America Advancement Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-121, 110 Stat. 847 (1996) (CWAAA). Title 11 of the CWAAA is the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996 (Small Business Act).

modified requirements must apply fully to small entities (as well as to others) to protect consumers and further other goals, as described in the Report and Order. Pursuant to the SBPRA, we will seek specific comment on how we might "further reduce the information collection burden for small business concerns with fewer than 25 cmployees."

#### C. Congressional Review Act

43. The Commission will include a copy of this Report and Order in a report to be sent to Congress and the Government Accountability Office pursuant to the Congressional Review Act. See 5 U.S.C. 801(a)(1)(A).

### V. ORDERING CLAUSES

44. Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED, pursuant to sections 1, 4(i), 4(j), 5(c), 10, 201, 225, and 303(r) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151, 154(i), 154(j), 155(c), 160, 201, and 303(r), that the Report and Order in WC Docket No. 07-267 IS ADOPTED, and that Part 1 of the Commission's Rules, 47 C.F.R. Part 1, IS AMENDED as set forth in Appendix B.

45. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the rules and the requirements of this Report and Order SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE 30 days after publication of Notice of this Report and Order in the Federal Register, except that new or modified reporting and recordkeeping requirements imposed by this action SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE upon approval by the Office of Management and Budget as prescribed by the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995.

46. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Commission's Consumer and Governmental Affairs Bureau, Reference Information Center, SHALL SEND a copy of this Report and Order, including the Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis, to the Chief Counsel for Advocacy of the Small Business Administration.

FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION

Marlene H. Dortch

Marlene H. Dortch Secretary

## APPENDIX A

### List of Commenters

# Comments in WC Docket No. 07-267

Comments	Abbreviation
Access Point, Inc. et al.	Access Point
ACS of Anchorage	ACS
AdHoc Telecommunications Users Committee	AdHoc
AT&T Inc.	AT&T
California Public Utilities Commission	California PUC
City of Philadelphia	City of Philadelphia
Columbia Capital and M/C Venture Partners	Telecom Investors
Comcast Corporation	Comcast
COMPTEL	COMPTEL
Covad Communications Group, NuVox, and XO	Covad
Communications, LLC	
DeltaCom Inc.	DeltaCom
Earthlink Inc. and New Edge Networks	EarthLink
Frontier Communications	Frontier Communications
Hance Haney, Director & Senior Fellow,	Discovery Institute
Technology & Democracy Project, Discovery Institute	
Independent Telephone & Telecommunications Alliance	ITTA
Members of the Mid-Atlantic Conference of Regulatory	MACRUC
Utility Commissioners	
Mercatus Center, George Mason University	GMU
National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners	NARUC
National Association of Telecommunications Officers and	NATOA
Advisors	
National Cable & Telecommunications Association	NCTA
New Jersey Division of Rate Counsel and the National	NJ Rate Counsel/NASUCA
Association of State Utility Consumer Advocates	
Office Advocacy, U.S. Small Business Administration	SBA
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission	Pennsylvania PUC
Public Service Commission of the State of Missouri	Missouri PSC
Public Utilities Commission of Texas	Texas PUC
Qwest Corporation	Qwest
Sprint Nextel Corporation	Sprint
TEXALTEL	TEXALTEL
Time Warner Telecom Inc, One Communications Corp., and	Time Warner
Cbeyond Inc.	
Verizon and Verizon Wireless	Verizon

Reply Comments	Abbreviation
Access Point, Inc. et al.	Access Point
Arizona Corporation Commission	Arizona Corporation Commission
AT&T Inc.	AT&T
City of Philadelphia	City of Philadelphia
Columbia Capital and M/C Venture Partners	Telecom Investors
Comcast Corporation	Comcast
COMPTEL	COMPTEL
Covad Communications Group, NuVox, and XO	Covad
Communications, LLC	
Embarq	Embarq
Frontier Communications	Frontier Communications
Michigan Public Service Commission	Michigan PSC
New Jersey Division of Rate Counsel and the National	NJ Rate Counsel/NASUCA
Association of State Utility Consumer Advocates	
Qwest Corporation	Qwest
Seth Cooper, Director, Telecommunications & Information	ALEC
Technology Task Force, American Legislative Exchange	
Council	
Verizon and Verizon Wireless	Verizon

# Reply Comments Filed in WC Docket No. 07-267